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          1  COMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Good morning.

          3  I am Council Member Oliver Koppell, Chair of the

          4  Council's Committee on Mental Health, Mental

          5  Retardation, Alcoholism, Drug Abuse and Disability

          6  Services.

          7                 Today's hearing we will consider

          8  Proposed Resolution 823-A, calling on the

          9  Legislature to adopt legislation which would make

         10  certain persons who are eligible or receiving SSDI

         11  benefits eligible for the Elderly Pharmaceutical

         12  Insurance Coverage, EPIC.

         13                 We've invited a number of people to

         14  testify, and leading off will be Matthew Sapolin,

         15  the Commissioner of the Mayor's Office for People

         16  with Disabilities.

         17                 We have a number of members of the

         18  Legislature who indicated they are going to testify,

         19  and I know one member, Micah Kellner, is already

         20  here.

         21                 EPIC of course, is the New York State

         22  sponsored prescription plan for seniors, aged 65 or

         23  older, who have annual incomes of $35,000 or less if

         24  single, or $50,000 or less if married.  While

         25  seniors who receive full Medicaid benefits are not
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          2  eligible for EPIC, seniors with prescription

          3  coverage through Medicare or other plans can join

          4  EPIC to cover drug costs not covered.

          5                 EPIC is limited now to senior

          6  citizens of moderate income.  Persons with

          7  disabilities are often people who share the very

          8  same restrictions as senior citizens, in that their

          9  income potential is often limited by their

         10  disabilities, and in addition, they tend to be

         11  people who require substantial numbers of

         12  prescription drugs because their disabilities are

         13  often accompanied by other symptoms that require

         14  medication.

         15                 So at today's committee hearing, we

         16  will hear testimony with respect to the success of

         17  the EPIC program, and the need to expand the program

         18  to people with disabilities.

         19                 As people here know, the Council has

         20  led the effort to create parity, for instance, in

         21  the senior citizen Rent Increase Exemption program

         22  for people with disabilities, on tax exemptions

         23  given to people with disabilities, as well as to

         24  senior citizens.  We'd like to see parity in this

         25  area as well.            The cost of prescription
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          2  drugs is, of course, a great concern especially in

          3  the absence of comprehensive Federal legislation for

          4  everyone, and we hope that this resolution if

          5  adopted and passed by the Council will impel the

          6  Legislature to act.  There is legislation in Albany.

          7    We had some hope that it might be enacted

          8  yesterday or the day before, and then we could have

          9  cancelled the hearing, but that didn't happen.  So

         10  hopefully when the Legislature reconvenes in

         11  December or latest, when the Legislature convenes

         12  for regular session in January, this will be high on

         13  the agenda, and we think the Council passing the

         14  resolution can only help.

         15                 I've indicated my bias on this, but

         16  we're looking forward to getting some testimony on

         17  the record to buttress our arguments in Albany, and

         18  to move this forward.

         19                 So I want to first, before I call on

         20  our witnesses, I'd like to welcome members of the

         21  Committee, Simcha Felder, who's always very good

         22  about being here and being on time, Annabel Palma,

         23  my colleague from the Bronx.  We have several other

         24  committee members who I expect will be joining us in

         25  the course of the morning.
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          2                 I also want to thank Michael Benjamin

          3  who's here on the central staff, as well as Jamin

          4  Sewell (phonetic), my counsel who's helped in

          5  putting the hearing together.

          6                 So with that, I'd like Commissioner

          7  Sapolin to address us.

          8                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Good morning,

          9  Chairman Koppell, and members of the Committee, and

         10  those gathered today to provide testimony and bear

         11  witness to comments on expanding EPIC to people with

         12  disabilities under the age of 65 receiving SSDI, as

         13  you stated, Chairman.

         14                 The Mayor's Office for People with

         15  Disabilities was established in 1973 to assure that

         16  the rights of people with disabilities were included

         17  in development of our City's programs and services

         18  to serve as liaison between the community and the

         19  Mayoralty, and to serve as the in- house expert on

         20  disability for the City, and to provide guidance and

         21  advise to the Mayoralty as it relates to serving and

         22  including people with disabilities in our rich city.

         23                 Since taking office in October of

         24  2002, one of the critical issues that our offices

         25  have encountered through communications, both
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          2  written and phone calls, and visits to our website,

          3  is a great interest in access to health care and

          4  health insurance for people with disabilities,

          5  whether it be day- to- day co- pay costs, or the

          6  very important piece of prescription benefit and the

          7  need that many people with disabilities have as we

          8  depend often on medications to allow us to live and

          9  participate fully in our City.

         10                 So, we felt it was a great

         11  opportunity today to come and speak with you a

         12  little bit about the importance of expanding this

         13  very critical benefit that we have seen significant

         14  impact and success in the senior realm, and we think

         15  as you stated, Chairman, that parity for people with

         16  disabilities on this very critical equation is very

         17  important to take place, and it looks like the

         18  timing is falling into place, and we'd like Albany

         19  to consider this.

         20                 I think the second part that differs

         21  for people with disabilities, perhaps slightly than

         22  seniors, is that a lot of us are trying and are

         23  still looking to be competitively employed.  One of

         24  the significant obstacles to employment is

         25  maintaining good health, and as we know the
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          2  prescription piece is something that can provide

          3  stability and support to people who are looking to

          4  be active and contribute in the work force.  So we

          5  see the expansion of EPIC as actually providing our

          6  constituency with an opportunity to develop

          7  stability, and actually get back into the community

          8  if they are not currently, and contribute through

          9  working or participating in our City.

         10                 As I said, we have received

         11  communications from the constituents and that's why

         12  we are here today to support your efforts on

         13  expansion.

         14                 I will close with saying that we are

         15  hear to support this effort in any way appropriate,

         16  and remain steadfast in support of this expansion

         17  conversation.

         18                 So, I will open it up to the Council

         19  if you all have any questions for me or anything to

         20  follow up on based on my comments.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, we

         22  appreciate your support.  One of the things that we

         23  hope is that you will get the Mayor to put this item

         24  on the list of City priorities for the legislature

         25  because I know that the City has an active lobbying
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          2  effort in Albany.  We have some too as a council,

          3  but not as extensive as the Mayor.  So we would hope

          4  that the Mayor would put this on the agenda.  That

          5  would help to get it moving in Albany.

          6                 Have you done any studies to indicate

          7  the scope of the problem?  Is there any

          8  documentation of the disabled being unable or

          9  finding it difficult to obtain prescription drugs?

         10                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Anecdotally, I

         11  can tell you today that, like I say, we have

         12  significant contact with constituents who report to

         13  us this gap, and this obstacle, and I do believe

         14  there is data out there, perhaps, that has been

         15  generated by advocacy groups like the New York State

         16  Independent Living Council and others, that would

         17  perhaps bear out the actual estimated data that you

         18  speak of.  I do not come with any of that this

         19  morning.  I just come with the anecdotal experience

         20  that I bring through my constituent service folks

         21  who answer the phones, and through the constituents

         22  I see as I am out on the streets.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, if you do

         24  get any further documentation, we'd like you to

         25  share it with us.  We will then use it to try and
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          2  advance this because it seems to me that this is an

          3  easy one that the Legislature should adopt.  I mean

          4  obviously, there's some cost involved but it is

          5  something that makes eminent sense.  But we'd like

          6  to get some more documentation of need.

          7                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  I guess the

          8  one thing I would add in looking at some notes

          9  yesterday, I believe part of what should be

         10  attractive about this, is there should be some

         11  Federal support, obviously, as well to go along with

         12  this so that hopefully it would not be too

         13  burdensome on the State.  So, obviously, we

         14  encourage the State to leverage any of the Federal

         15  dollars that might be available.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you for

         17  coming and giving us support.

         18                 To my colleagues, do you have any

         19  questions or comments?  No.

         20                 Thank you again, Commissioner.

         21                 COMMISSIONER SAPOLIN:  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  I'd like now to

         23  call a relatively new member of the Legislature, a

         24  place that I know pretty well, and that's Micah

         25  Kellner, who was recently elected from the east side
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          2  of Manhattan.  I told him earlier that he follows in

          3  very difficult footsteps to fill, or shoes to fill,

          4  that is former Assembly Member Pete Grannis, who's a

          5  good friend of mine.  We're looking forward to a

          6  strong successor relationship.  Welcome,

          7  Assemblyman.

          8                 ASSEMBLYMAN KELLNER:  My name is

          9  Micah Z. Kellner, and I'm the Assembly member

         10  representing the 65th Assembly District, including

         11  the neighborhoods of Yorkville, the Upper East Side,

         12  and Roosevelt Island.

         13                 I want to thank the Committee

         14  chairman, and the Committee members for giving me

         15  the opportunity to testify today.

         16                 As a person with a mobility

         17  impairment myself, I have cerebral palsy, and one of

         18  the 80 sponsors of the Assembly bill that would

         19  expand the Elderly Pharmaceutical Insurance Coverage

         20  Program, EPIC, to the non- elderly disabled, I'm

         21  here today to applaud this Committee for considering

         22  a resolution in support of this important piece of

         23  legislation.

         24                 Nine other states, Connecticut,

         25  Delaware, Illinois, Maine, Massachusetts, New
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          2  Jersey, Vermont, Maryland and Wyoming already

          3  provide pharmaceutical insurance coverage to the

          4  non- elderly disabled, and it's wrong that New York

          5  is lagging behind on basic health care coverage for

          6  some of our most vulnerable citizens.  It dismays me

          7  that we are lagging behind Wyoming especially.

          8                 Historically, programs like Social

          9  Security and property tax breaks originally designed

         10  for the elderly, have eventually been expanded to

         11  include the non- elderly disabled community because

         12  policy- makers have recognized the experience of

         13  seniors and the disabled are similar when it comes

         14  to the barriers each group has to independent

         15  living.  While advances in the pharmaceutical

         16  industry mean that more people with disabilities are

         17  able to be active in their community, live

         18  independently, and maintain their employment, the

         19  declining availability of employer- provided health

         20  insurance as well as caps on drug coverage by some

         21  insurance companies mean that too often people with

         22  disabilities are without the necessary or affordable

         23  drug coverage.

         24                 Right now, a disable person unable to

         25  afford their prescription drugs has no choice but to
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          2  spend down in order to qualify for Medicaid, or miss

          3  taking their medication, which can lead to

          4  unnecessary emergency or long- term care later.

          5  Results that are both more expensive to the State,

          6  and inhumane to the person with the disability.

          7                 Medicare's prescription drug program

          8  provides us with a unique opportunity to take the

          9  money we need to expand the EPIC program from

         10  savings the program is seeing through coordinating

         11  with Medicare Part D.  This method would keep

         12  dollars intended for the EPIC being used to provide

         13  pharmaceutical insurance as they were intended.

         14  Since Medicare Part D covers the disabled, EPIC's

         15  role would be to provide a wraparound coverage

         16  filling the caps left by Part D.

         17                 Last summer the New York State

         18  Department of Health studied the fiscal implications

         19  to the State of the pending legislation.  The

         20  Department found that by three years into the

         21  Program's expansion, the cost would level out at

         22  about $181 million annually, serving approximately

         23  85,000 non- elderly disabled persons across New York

         24  State.  I think it's a small price to pay for this

         25  service that it's providing.
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          2                 Advocating for the passage of this

          3  bill is one of my top priorities.  To ensure that

          4  the program will be fully funded, I along with the

          5  Assembly bill's prime sponsor, David Coon, and

          6  Assembly Health Committee Chair, Richard Gottfried,

          7  wrote to the Governor's office this week requesting

          8  that the funds be provided in the 2008/2009

          9  Executive Budget.

         10                 Legislation to expand the EPIC

         11  program to the disabled enjoys strong support in

         12  both Houses of the Legislature, and Governor Spitzer

         13  has made clear his commitment to further the

         14  expansion of public health care benefits to

         15  underserved New Yorkers.

         16                 A resolution from the New York City

         17  Council supporting the EPIC expansion bill is an

         18  important signal to the leadership in the Assembly,

         19  the State Senate, the Governor's office, that the

         20  disabled community is important to all New Yorkers,

         21  and that the expanding EPIC is being watched and

         22  cheered on by a broader audience than just the

         23  constituents it serves.

         24                 I applaud this Committee for the work

         25  on this issue, and urge you to pass this resolution.
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          2                 Thank you again for the opportunity

          3  to testify.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

          5  much, Assemblyman.

          6                 First of all, let me welcome Gale

          7  Brewer a member of the Committee to the hearing.

          8                 Second of all, let me congratulate

          9  your or compliment you I should say on a very good

         10  statement, and it's also interesting to note the

         11  estimate of costs you provide. While it's actually a

         12  larger cost than I anticipated seeing, but I think

         13  that's an indication of the need because if it's

         14  going to cost that much, it shows how many people

         15  will be able to take advantage of this.

         16                 ASSEMBLYMAN KELLNER:  I think there's

         17  a slow drum beat that has been building.  I think if

         18  we're going to do this, it's going to have to be

         19  part of the budget this year, and I think there's a

         20  real possibility with the number of people who have

         21  made this a priority in Albany.  So, I hope with the

         22  support of the Council we can actually make this a

         23  reality.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, I

         25  appreciate very much your coming today, and pointing
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          2  out the importance of the program, and I note that

          3  you're particularly sensitive to this because of

          4  your own situation and we certainly will  --  I

          5  expect we will be moving the resolution, and I will

          6  certainly make it a point that the Council put this

          7  on its legislative agenda, which we do communicate

          8  to Albany each year.

          9                 ASSEMBLYMAN KELLNER:  It can only

         10  help.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Any members

         12  want to ask any questions?  No?

         13                 Okay, thank you again, assembly

         14  member.

         15                 We now have a panel, we found it in

         16  the Council efficient to have a group of people come

         17  up and testify one after the other.  So I'm going to

         18  call three people, and perhaps we could get one more

         19  chair in front of the table.

         20                 Mark Scherzer, New York for

         21  Accessible Health Coverage, P. J. Weiner, National

         22  MS Society, New York City Chapter, and Lani Sanjek,

         23  New York Network for Action on Medicare and Social

         24  Security and New York Statewide Senior Action

         25  Council. So maybe we'll go in the order that I
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          2  called people.

          3                 MR. SCHERZER:  Thank you very much,

          4  Council Member Koppell.

          5                 My name is Mark Scherzer.  I am

          6  Legislative Counsel to New Yorkers for Accessible

          7  Health Coverage.  It's a coalition of over 50

          8  voluntary health organizations and allied groups who

          9  have advocated for the needs of the disabled, and

         10  people with chronic and serious illness, in the

         11  insurance systems since the early 1990's.  We were

         12  instrumental among other things in the creation of

         13  community rating and open enrollment in the

         14  individual and small group insurance markets in New

         15  York in the early 90's, and the Consumer Managed

         16  Care Bill of Rights in the later 90's.

         17                 We've been looking at equity in EPIC

         18  for quite a long time.  You have my written

         19  testimony, and because the previous speakers covered

         20  much of what I would say about the equity issues.

         21  I'm going to restrict myself and summarize a little

         22  bit to address some of the questions about need and

         23  about cost that you have raised.

         24                 In terms of need, you've identified

         25  already that people who qualify for Social Security
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          2  Disability and therefore, for Medicare, are very

          3  similarly situated to seniors in terms of their need

          4  for drug coverage.  In fact though, disabled

          5  Medicare beneficiaries generally have lower incomes

          6  than seniors on Medicare, and they are in poorer

          7  physical, mental and functional levels than their

          8  elderly counterparts.  Disabled Medicare

          9  beneficiaries are more than twice as likely as

         10  seniors to report being in fair or poor health,

         11  nearly 60 percent of them report that, and they're

         12  twice as likely to have trouble performing at least

         13  one activity of daily living.

         14                 You asked earlier if there was data

         15  to support the idea that there is need in this

         16  community for drugs.  A Kaiser Family Foundation

         17  national survey of people with disabilities in

         18  December 2003, found that nine out of ten use at

         19  least one prescription medication on a daily basis.

         20  Almost a third of them identified cost as a barrier

         21  to obtaining necessary prescription drugs, and

         22  that's more than is reported for any other medical

         23  benefit.  Among the uninsured in the survey, and of

         24  course uninsured people can qualify for EPIC, 60

         25  percent reported that they has skipped does, split
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          2  pills, or did not fill a prescription because of

          3  cost.  Not surprisingly, 41 percent of them said

          4  that the most important disability- related issue

          5  for them, for the government to address, was

          6  prescription drug coverage.

          7                 Now the Medicare Part D coverage,

          8  which was introduced in 2006, does go some of the

          9  way to addressing these needs that were so prevalent

         10  in 2003, but a lot of the people who we're talking

         11  about would not get the benefit they need from that

         12  program for several reasons.  One is, that there is

         13  a two- year waiting period to get on Medicare, and

         14  therefore, on the Medicare Drug Plan after you're

         15  determined to have been so totally and permanently

         16  disabled by Social Security.  Another, and this is

         17  probably the most important element, is the cost

         18  sharing in the Medicare Part D program, which

         19  requires that you spend in excess of $3,600 a year

         20  in deductibles and co- payments and the "donut hole"

         21  before you get to a fully comprehensive level of

         22  drug coverage.  When Part D first came in, we tried

         23  to calculate how that would affect someone who was

         24  under 65, and disabled versus a senior who had EPIC,

         25  and we took someone with a $17,550 a year income,
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          2  not atypical for what you get on Social Security

          3  Disability for example, with $4,000 a year in drug

          4  expenses, and we calculated that with that person

          5  who had to rely solely on Medicare Part D would have

          6  to pay $2,900 out of their munificent $17,000 a year

          7  income out of pocket for prescription drugs. While a

          8  person who is 65 years old, in EPIC, similarly

          9  situated, would pay $410.00 a year for the same drug

         10  bills.

         11                 Finally, Part D does not cover the

         12  full range of prescription drugs, and this is a

         13  Mental Health Committee among other things, you

         14  might know that Part D excludes as a category of

         15  coverage entirely, drugs like benzodiazepines and

         16  barbiturates from coverage altogether, as well as

         17  other categories of drugs.

         18                 So Part D has been very helpful in

         19  some ways, and one of the ways it's very helpful is

         20  that it has, as Assembly Member Kellner identified,

         21  lowered the costs of the EPIC program considerably

         22  because EPIC is able to wrap around Part D now for

         23  seniors to a significant degree, and the State

         24  Division of Budget has estimated that for 2007, the

         25  EPIC program will save $143 million as a result of
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          2  Part D's existence.

          3                 We think actually that the expense of

          4  expanding EPIC is somewhat less than the Department

          5  of Health has estimated.  I think Assemblyman

          6  Kellner said they were estimating $180 million.  We

          7  think at full roll- out it's  --  there may be $180

          8  million in payments, but there are also rebates and

          9  cost sharing, and after rebates and cost sharing and

         10  wrapping around Part D, that we think at full

         11  enrollment it's more likely to

         12  be  --  we're talking about like a $50 million a

         13  year cost to the EPIC program.  A lot of that has to

         14  do with what we think is a very high over estimation

         15  by the Department of Health in what the enrollment

         16  is going to be.

         17                 When we look at the senior EPIC

         18  program, by no means do we come anywhere near even

         19  the majority of the people who are potentially

         20  eligible signing up.  We don't see that the EPIC

         21  program, when extended to the under- 66 disabled,

         22  although we hope everyone takes advantage of it, is

         23  going to be that much more successful at enrolling

         24  everyone who is potentially eligible.  We think that

         25  the potentially eligible population here is about
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          2  120,000 people in the state.

          3                 So we think it's affordable well

          4  within the amount that's saved from having Part D

          5  defray EPIC costs now, and we certainly urge your

          6  continued support and your resolution in favor of

          7  this legislation, which can certainly help in

          8  Albany.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

         11  much.

         12                 We're going to hear from all three

         13  people testifying before we go for questions, but

         14  let me simply say to you that my first question that

         15  I was going to ask you is what is the impact of the

         16  Medicare program, and you answered it without my

         17  asking in a very comprehensive way, and I really

         18  appreciate that.  So, I don't need to ask that

         19  question later.

         20                 The next witness to testify is P.J.

         21  Weiner from the National MS Society, the New York

         22  City Chapter.  Ms. Weiner

         23                 MS. WEINER:  Thank you, and good

         24  morning.  My name is P.J. Weiner.  I am the Manager

         25  of Advocacy Programs at the New York City Chapter of
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          2  the National Multiple Sclerosis Society.  I am here

          3  today representing the 34,000 New Yorkers that are

          4  affected by multiple sclerosis.

          5                 I would like to thank Chairman

          6  Koppell, and the rest of the Committee for holding

          7  this hearing today.

          8                 First, I would like to provide some

          9  background information about multiple sclerosis.  MS

         10  is an unpredictable, life- long, neurological

         11  disease usually diagnosed in early adulthood,

         12  between the ages of 20 and 50,when people are

         13  beginning families, establishing careers and making

         14  their life dreams come true.  Symptoms often

         15  associated with MS include difficulties with vision,

         16  numbness or tingling, muscle weakness, loss of

         17  balance or coordination, gait disturbances,

         18  excessive fatigue bladder and bowel disturbances,

         19  memory loss and paralysis.  About ten percent of

         20  individuals with MS will require personal assistance

         21  and/or home health care in order to live

         22  independently.  While there is currently no cure for

         23  MS, appropriate treatment can reduce the frequency,

         24  severity, and duration of flare ups, and slow the

         25  progression of the disease.
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          2                 Expanding the EPIC program to include

          3  people with disabilities under the age of 65 has

          4  been at the top of our legislative agenda for the

          5  past decade.  This issue is vital to people living

          6  with MS because of the fact that the medications

          7  used to treat multiple sclerosis are exceptionally

          8  expensive. There are currently four medications used

          9  to treat MS that are covered under EPIC that range

         10  in cost from $1,200 to $2,000 a month and that's

         11  just for one medication.

         12                 Now, Mark just went into more detail

         13  in terms of the two different issues that I was

         14  going to speak about. I'll hopefully put more of a

         15  direct example with the two different gaps in

         16  coverage that Mark was referring to.

         17                 So additionally, those fortunate

         18  enough to have health care coverage may not be fully

         19  insured or covered for their prescriptions.  So Mark

         20  spoke before about the coverage gap that surfaces.

         21  Once someone has qualified for Social Security

         22  Disability, there's a two- year waiting before they

         23  can receive Medicare coverage.  While people are in

         24  this gap, they are receiving Social Security

         25  Disability as their primary income, and because of
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          2  that, they usually can't afford their COBRA

          3  payments. They can't afford the health plans in the

          4  individual market.  The people that we're working

          5  with are usually  --  they have an income between

          6  $1,500 and $2,500 a month, and therefore, they

          7  without any insurance at all.  EPIC would be a very

          8  helpful program in this two- year waiting period

          9  because it would help people have access to paying

         10  for their prescription drugs.

         11                 The second coverage gap that Mark

         12  mentioned, and that Chairman Koppell also mentioned,

         13  has to do with Medicare prescription drug coverage,

         14  though this program was something that we were all

         15  looking forward to because of the gaps that lie

         16  within this coverage, people with MS in particular

         17  with high drug costs, end up in a very unfortunate

         18  situation.  The coverage gap, or the "donut hole" in

         19  Medicare prescription drug coverage will usually end

         20  up surfacing for people with MS within the second

         21  month of each calendar year because their

         22  medications are so expensive.   So come February,

         23  people are already in that "donut hole" and owe 100

         24  percent out- of- pocket costs, and if your

         25  medications cost between $1,200 and $2,000 for one
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          2  medication, and your income is $1,800, you have to

          3  make a decision.  Are you going to pay for your

          4  rent, utilities, food, or are you going to pay for

          5  one very necessary medication?  We have plenty of

          6  our members who are calling us and just saying they

          7  don't know what they're going to do.  They don't

          8  know how they're going to pay for their medications.

          9    They don't know how they're going to make ends

         10  meet.

         11                 EPIC would significantly help people

         12  who are living with disabilities while they're in

         13  the Medicare prescription drug coverage "donut

         14  hole."

         15                 So we appreciate the City Council's

         16  recognition of the difficulties paying for health

         17  care that disabled New Yorkers face.  By passing the

         18  resolution you are sending a clear message that

         19  people with disabilities deserve equal access to

         20  health care.

         21                 Thank you for your time.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

         23  much for your testimony.

         24                 As I say, if people have questions

         25  we'll open it up after the last witness in this
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          2  panel speaks, and that is Lani Sanjek, I don't know

          3  if I pronounced it correctly, New York Network for

          4  Action of Medicare and Social Security, and New York

          5  Statewide Senior Action Council.

          6                 MS. SANJEK:  Yes, I am a New York

          7  senior citizen. I recently retired from the New York

          8  Statewide Senior Action Council, which is a

          9  statewide advocacy organization, and we're very

         10  proud of the role that our organization played in

         11  getting the EPIC program established, especially at

         12  that special session in 1986 when Governor Cuomo

         13  really needed a lot of reminding of the promises he

         14  had made to senior citizens on this issue.

         15                 Our coalition the New York Network is

         16  a broad coalition of over 50 groups that have a lot

         17  of experience with the shortcomings and problems

         18  created by the Medicare Part D drug benefit, and

         19  understand the important ways that others have

         20  spoken about that EPIC really fills absolutely

         21  critical gaps. EPIC has done studies that

         22  demonstrate the way in which EPIC coverage actually

         23  reduces emergency room visits and hospitalizations.

         24                 We're here to strongly support this

         25  expansion because we believe that it will be
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          2  covering people who are most at risk for having to

          3  depend upon the most costly parts of the health care

          4  system, and EPIC coverage will be a cost savings we

          5  believe for the New York state system as a whole.

          6                 We're also, I think, very concerned

          7  at this point that the State move quickly to bring

          8  parity between disabled Medicare beneficiaries and

          9  seniors in order to be in a strategic position to

         10  benefit from what we already are beginning to see,

         11  legislative proposals in Washington to fix Part D,

         12  and one of the important ways that we are hoping

         13  will move forward is to provide ways where strong

         14  programs, like EPIC, will be able to draw down more

         15  Federal dollars for all beneficiaries, which also I

         16  think in New York State, will improve our ability to

         17  benefit from new ways to bulk purchase, to pool our

         18  interests to get a better deal for New Yorkers all

         19  around.  So we see this as an essential part of a

         20  broad strategy to improve affordability of

         21  medications in New York State.

         22                 So, we especially thank the Committee

         23  for taking the lead in bringing the City Council's

         24  support to this in Albany right now, and appreciate

         25  your being able to weigh in on this measure.
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          2                 We will do what we can also to get it

          3  on the Mayor's priorities.  I did speak to a

          4  Commissioner Ed Mendez yesterday, who says that

          5  Aging is in strong support of this.  So, we will do

          6  our best to also get that message out there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

          8  much.

          9                 Do any of my colleagues have any

         10  questions or comments?  No.

         11                 Thank you, all three of you for

         12  providing powerful support for this, and appreciate

         13  your coming today.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 MS. SANJEK:  Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  The next panel,

         17  Noor Alam, Center for Independence of the Disabled

         18  in New York, Mike Godino, the Brooklyn Center for

         19  the Independence of the Disabled, and Paulette

         20  Collins, JPAC and I can't read the next  --  I guess

         21  it's Senior Center, JPAC Senior Center.

         22                 So do we have all three here?  Okay,

         23  why don't we start with Ms. Alam.

         24                 MS. ALAM:  Good morning.  My name is

         25  Noor Alam, I am the Community Organizer for the
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          2  Center for Independence of the Disabled in New York.

          3                 I would like to thank the Council for

          4  holding this hearing, and Committee Chair Oliver

          5  Koppell, and the other council members for

          6  introducing this resolution.

          7                 The Center for Independence of the

          8  Disabled, New York, appreciates your support in

          9  reminding your colleagues in the State Legislature

         10  that the issue of EPIC expansion is still before it,

         11  in the form of S.2644 and A.5178, which were

         12  introduced in the last session.

         13                 Because my colleagues before had

         14  mentioned a lot of the points that we were going to

         15  make also, I will abbreviate my testimony, which you

         16  have.

         17                 CIDNY has worked for many years

         18  toward ending the exclusion of people with

         19  disabilities from the EPIC program. While EPIC is

         20  now limited to Medicare enrollee's over the age of

         21  65, people with disabilities under age 65 who get

         22  Medicare share the very characteristics that cause

         23  the elderly to need EPIC, as you know.  They live on

         24  fixed incomes, will not be going back to work, and

         25  often need many prescription drugs.
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          2                 Medicare's Part D prescription

          3  benefit is not enough for non- elderly people with

          4  disabilities.  Some are not yet eligible for Part D

          5  because, after they prove that they cannot work and

          6  start receiving SSDI benefits, they must wait two

          7  years to be eligible for Medicare.  Some cannot

          8  afford the cost sharing that Part D requires,

          9  especially in the dreaded "donut hole."  Some cannot

         10  obtain all of the drugs they need through Part D

         11  because of formulary restrictions imposed by Part D

         12  plans that we talked about previously.

         13                 The implementation of Medicare Part D

         14  has created an opportunity to expand EPIC to people

         15  with disabilities at a lower cost to the State than

         16  ever before.  The State Division on Budget estimated

         17  EPIC savings of $120 million in 2006, and another

         18  $143 million in 2007.  This shows that the State has

         19  more than adequate funding to support this

         20  expansion.

         21                 While EPIC is one of New York's

         22  greatest success stories, its exclusion of people

         23  with disabilities is a deficiency that must be

         24  corrected.  At least 15 other states, including

         25  Massachusetts, New Jersey and Connecticut, have
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          2  implemented pharmacy assistance programs that cover

          3  non- elderly adults with disabilities.

          4                 CIDNY emphatically supports City

          5  Council Resolution 823 as an important step toward

          6  making affordable prescription drugs available to

          7  the large numbers of New Yorkers without

          8  comprehensive health insurance.

          9                 Thank you for your time.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

         11  much for your good statement.

         12                 Mike Godino.

         13                 MR. GODINO:  Thank you for the

         14  opportunity to testify on the Proposed Resolution

         15  823, a resolution supporting the passage of S.2644

         16  and A.5178, bills that will expand the Elderly

         17  Prescription Insurance Coverage to people with

         18  disabilities.

         19                 My name is Mike Godino, I am the

         20  Director of Advocacy for the Center for the

         21  Independence of the Disabled, Brooklyn Center for

         22  the Independence of the Disabled, BCID.

         23                 BCID is a not- for- profit community-

         24  based consumer directed center, which advocates for

         25  the benefits on behalf of people with disabilities
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          2  and community participation.

          3                 BCID commends the New York City

          4  Council for its support of the passage of S.2644 and

          5  A.5178 legislation that will make people with

          6  disabilities under the age of 65 and receiving

          7  Social Security Disability Insurance, SSDI, eligible

          8  for the Elderly Prescription Insurance Coverage,

          9  EPIC, program.

         10                 The passage of this legislation will

         11  go far to assist people on SSDI in meeting the high

         12  cost of medications. As you know, the current

         13  Administration in Washington, D.C. pushed and passed

         14  the Social Security Part D prescription drug

         15  coverage that began in 2006.  BCID is sure that the

         16  legislation was passed with all good intentions,

         17  however, many people with disabilities with high

         18  medication costs have suffered the dreaded "donut

         19  hole" that was the controversial sticking point

         20  throughout the Part D negotiations.  The fact is,

         21  the Part D program passed in the Senate 98 to two,

         22  the two Senators that voted against the Part D

         23  coverage were the two Senators from New York State,

         24  and I say in my testimony, do you think they had a

         25  vision?
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          2                      Because New York City has such a

          3  large population of people with disabilities based

          4  on the 20 percent number, people with disabilities

          5  averaged 20 percent of the general population, so we

          6  feel that people with disabilities are going to be

          7  very prominent here in New York City.  So, given

          8  that the average monthly cash benefits to a person

          9  receiving SSDI are less than $1,100 a month, and the

         10  high cost of rents and the high cost of living here

         11  in New York City, we really need to consider that

         12  and  --  I stopped reading and I blew it.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  You're doing

         14  fine.

         15                 MR. GODINO:  Thank you.  So the EPIC

         16  program will help meet this gap of this "donut hole"

         17  that people fall into. You've heard a lot about the

         18   "donut hole."

         19                 BCID views the New York City Council

         20  support of the passage of EPIC as a positive step in

         21  moving this legislation to passage on the floor of

         22  the Senate and the Assembly.

         23                 BCID thanks the City Council, and

         24  looks forward to the passage of Resolution of 823, a

         25  firm acknowledgment that this Council is in full
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          2  support of the people living with disabilities in

          3  the City of New York.

          4                 Thank you so much.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you for

          6  your good statement.  Thank you very much.

          7                 Paulette Collins, you're next.

          8                 MS. COLLINS:  Okay.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you for

         10  coming today.

         11                 MS. COLLINS:  Hi, I am Paulette

         12  Collins.  I want to thank the Committee for having

         13  this opportunity to give our testimony.

         14                 I am going to humanize this a little

         15  bit.  I am a former visiting nurse.  I am disabled.

         16  I have been disabled since age 57.  I had a husband

         17  who was disabled from age 39. Luckily, we had jobs

         18  that gave us insurance for medicines.

         19                 But as a visiting nurse, I saw many

         20  clients who were not able to afford to eat, let

         21  alone pay for medications. Most of the people who

         22  retire on disability, a lot of them, are people who

         23  were home attendants, people who had low incomes to

         24  start out with.  So, they didn't get even if SSD and

         25  SSI, they didn't get any more than $1,100 for a
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          2  salary for a month, and they had trouble meeting

          3  their needs, their daily needs.

          4                 EPIC embracing these people will help

          5  very much. It will alleviate the worry.  It'll keep

          6  them out of the hospital, and I have seen people go

          7  to the hospital because they have not had

          8  medication.  This is my personal experience.

          9                 I was on Access- A- Ride today coming

         10  down to the hearing.  A lovely lady came in, and she

         11  sat on the bus, didn't know her from Adam.  She says

         12  to me, "I don't know how I'm going to get through

         13  the end of the month."  She says, "I have to have

         14  two prescriptions filled, one $87.00 and the other

         15  one $105.00." And she says, "I have $25.00 in my

         16  bank account to last me until the end of the month."

         17    She didn't even know where I was going, and I just

         18  need  --  the need is so desperate, I don't even

         19  think you could understand how desperate it is.  By

         20  working at the lower end and seeing it personally, I

         21  urge and I'm so happy that the City Council has the

         22  foresight to endorse this bill.  The extra money

         23  that we're going to  --  that's going to be from

         24  Medicare D, we can use this to include these people.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

          3  much for coming.

          4                 All people on this panel have

          5  testified.  Any questions from my colleagues?  No.

          6                 So thank you again.  I'm going to

          7  call the next group, and this is the last group.  If

          8  there's anybody else who wishes to testify, please

          9  put in a slip.

         10                 So this next panel is Norman

         11  Rosenthal from the 504 Democratic Club, Cameron

         12  Gelisse from JPAC, and Edith Prentiss, Disable in

         13  Action.  We know Edith very well, and I am delighted

         14  you've come again.

         15                 Mr. Rosenthal, why don't you start?

         16                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Actually I'm more

         17  here to fill in the blanks.  Edith will probably--

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  All right, we

         19  have no problem.  Whatever order you want to go in.

         20                 MS. PRENTISS:  My name is Edith

         21  Prentiss.  I am the President of 504, and the Vice

         22  President of DIA.  In addition, I am a disabled New

         23  Yorker.

         24                 I would like to thank the Committee

         25  for the opportunity to speak about this very
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          2  important issue, the expansion of EPIC to include

          3  younger disabled New Yorkers.

          4                 Since most of the history has been

          5  given, I'm going to skip that and just move right

          6  in.

          7                 It is very puzzling to see who falls

          8  off these bills annually.  What's even more shocking

          9  is to see who's not on the bills.  For example,

         10  Senators Ruben Dias, Sr., Hassell Thompson, Craig

         11  Johnson, Montgomery, Perkins, Sabini, Sampson,

         12  Stachowski, Andrea Stewart- Cousins, and Antoine

         13  Thomspon.  If any of them have signed on recently, I

         14  have to apologize, but the bill check was down all

         15  night for the Senate side, the Assembly was up.

         16                 I would like to explain why EPIC

         17  expansion is very important to me individually, and

         18  why my pharmaceutical expenses are so astronomical.

         19  In fact, it seems that I may have been the first

         20  person in the "donut hole" last year when I was

         21  actually in the "donut hole" on February 3rd, and

         22  everyone from my insurance company to Medicare swore

         23  I was just confused.  I couldn't be in the "donut

         24  hole."  How could I have used that much medication?

         25  I'll explain why.
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          2                 I have something called Sjogren's

          3  Syndrome. Sjogren's Syndrome is an autoimmune

          4  complex in which, basically, your body generates

          5  antibodies and attacks things.  Primary Sjogren's

          6  primarily attacks the salivary glands, and the tear

          7  ducts.  Secondary Sjogren's attacks systemically.

          8  It's basically related to RA, similar to Lupus, et

          9  cetera, scleroderma, and so forth.  I, of course,

         10  lucky me, have the secondary.

         11                 Until Sjogren's is diagnosed they are

         12  basically shooting at whatever the presenting

         13  symptoms are.  So, for about 15 or 20 years, no one

         14  realized I actually had Sjogren's manifestations in

         15  my lungs, and they treated it as asthma.  The

         16  treatment for asthma is lots of steroids.  Steroids

         17  create more problems, diabetes, cataracts and

         18  osteoporosis, infections within the joint capsules,

         19  breakdown of skin, et cetera.  I've had just about

         20  every one of them, and a few that they didn't

         21  realize. Another manifestation of Sjogren's because

         22  of the immunological defect, we actually have too

         23  many white cells, so that we actually get infections

         24  easily, and don't get rid of them until they get the

         25  exact, perfect antibiotic.  So, it's often shooting,
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          2  and as a result I often take antibiotics almost

          3  constantly.

          4                 Let's talk about the actual cost of

          5  drugs. Insulin, long- acting insulin, okay these

          6  numbers  --  the lower number is from Drugstore.com,

          7  the higher number is from my local pharmacy.  Long-

          8  acting insulin is $83.00 to $138.00 a month, three

          9  vials, $250.00 to $400.00.  Fast acting insulin

         10  $80.00 to $120.00, ten vials a month, $800.00 to

         11  $1,200.00.  One oral diabetic medication is anywhere

         12  from $175.00 to $225.00, and the other is a cheap

         13  one, only $100.00 a month, and then add up all the

         14  supplies that used to be covered under your

         15  Medicare, and now suddenly is a Part D shift.

         16                 I'm supposed to take Singulair, which

         17  is a cox inhibitor, which is used for pulmonary

         18  inflammation twice a day. My insurance company says

         19  once a day is enough, and a 30 pill supply is

         20  $130.00.  So before we even talk about what I'm

         21  going to be in the "donut hole," I'm not even

         22  getting credit for the other $130.00 I'm actually

         23  physically paying a month.

         24                 So I take samples, I hoard them, and

         25  I really tend not to take the second pill unless I'm
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          2  in crisis.  When I'm in crisis, then I deal with it.

          3

          4                 I was really thrilled to go from

          5   "pumps,"  we all know pumps, nebulizers, to an

          6  actual physical nebulizer with batteries and all

          7  sort of things.  Why?  When I stated being treated

          8  for asthma in the early 80's, a pump cost about

          9  $30.00. When they stared being used in individuals

         10  with compromised immunological systems, and they

         11  were being covered under ADAAP, suddenly the price

         12  jumped.  These now are different drugs, and they are

         13  more expensive, but even those old, cheap pumps are

         14  now $70.00.  These pumps that I have come off are

         15  $275.00 a unit and $220.00.  I'm supposed to use two

         16  of those a month.  Now that's again  --  it adds up.

         17    But the liquid for a nebulizer, it's insane, it's

         18  covered under Part B.  Don't ask me.  That's why you

         19  see those ads on TV that say, "Do you need

         20  nebulizers, diabetic supplies, et cetera?"  They

         21  were covered under Part B.

         22                 Osteoporosis, oh, this is my favorite

         23  one.  You get four pills in a package.  They used to

         24  come in bottles, and the pharmacist would actually

         25  count them out, and they were much cheaper.  Now
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          2  four pills cost $110.00 a month.  The problem is,

          3  they then dispense 12 of those over the year.  But

          4  gee, we can all do math.  There are 52 weeks in a

          5  year, not 48.  Boniva, which we've all seen on TV

          6  and see ads for, the once- a- month pill, $300.00,

          7  $300.00.  I mean come on, give me a break here. So

          8  basically, I'll stick with the $110.00.  I mean at

          9  the moment I'm not taking it because I'm in the

         10   "donut hole" again.  This year I actually made it

         11  until May, which was remarkable, but it's not going

         12  to end.

         13                 I would just like to very quickly

         14  say, I saw my diabetologist on Monday who just went

         15  insane.  He's furious.  He is having to treat me

         16  using the medications from approximately ten or 15

         17  years ago.  Why?  They cost $20.00 a vial.  The

         18  others cost the numbers I cited.

         19                 If I were eligible for EPIC, my life

         20  would be so much easier, and my health would be

         21  better.  Without EPIC I am, and don't forget also,

         22  those of us who did work and have some income aren't

         23  DRIE eligible.  So on top of not being having EPIC,

         24  we're struggling to pay our rent.  This is

         25  ridiculous, and I would certainly hope that Albany
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          2  finally listens to the Council, and will pass these

          3  bills.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you, I'm

          6  going to ask you a question but I'll wait until

          7  everybody else has gone.

          8                 Mr. Gelisse:

          9                 MR. GELISSE:  Chairman and members of

         10  the Committee.  Thank you for inviting me to speak

         11  today, and for holding this very important hearing.

         12                 My name is Cameron Gelisse, and I am

         13  the Brooklyn Borough Coordinator for the Joint

         14  Public Affairs Committee for Older Adults, more

         15  commonly referred to as JPAC.

         16                 JPAC is a non-partisan,

         17  interdenominational, multi-cultural social action

         18  coalition of older adult representatives from senior

         19  centers, community groups, agencies and independent

         20  individuals throughout Metropolitan New York. For 30

         21  years JPAC and its members have been fighting for

         22  programs and protections that benefit the lives of

         23  older adults in the New York City area.  Among our

         24  victories is the passage of the legislation that

         25  brought about the EPIC program.  In fact, this bill
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          2  was signed by the Governor at JPAC's central office

          3  here in the City in recognition of our role.

          4                 Since then, we have been advocating

          5  for many expansions to the program, one of them

          6  being this issue before you today; state legislation

          7  which would make certain persons who are eligible

          8  for SSDI benefits eligible for the EPIC program.

          9  JPAC strongly supports the New York City Council

         10  Resolution Number 823 calling upon New York State

         11  Legislature to adopt this legislation, as specified

         12  in the New York State Senate, S.2644 and New York

         13  State Assembly, A.5178.

         14                 EPIC has been a lifeline for older

         15  adults of low and moderate incomes for years, and

         16  continues to provide incredible drug coverage to

         17  eligible seniors.  Unfortunately, people with

         18  disabilities are not given the same privileges and

         19  assurances granted to seniors enrolled in the

         20  program even though they face many of the same

         21  barriers to obtaining medically necessary

         22  prescription drug coverage.  Their limited income,

         23  inability to work, lack of employer paid health

         24  insurance and prescription coverage caps by health

         25  insurers make life extremely difficult.  Seriously
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          2  compromising their health and well being, many

          3  individuals with disabilities are deterred from

          4  taking their doctor prescribed medications due to

          5  their inability to afford pharmaceuticals that are

          6  not only essential to their health, but also enhance

          7  quality- of- life by keeping hem able to live with

          8  dignity and autonomy and active members in their

          9  communities.

         10                 Representing JPAC here today, I

         11  strongly urge that you pass Resolution Number 823

         12  calling upon the New York State Legislature to make

         13  EPIC available to low and moderate income New

         14  Yorkers under the age of 65, with disabilities who

         15  are either in Medicare's two- year waiting period

         16  before they are eligible for Medicare Part D, or who

         17  are receiving Part D benefits, but are unable to

         18  afford the expensive premium, deductible, co-pays

         19  and "donut hole" costs which are required if their

         20  income is above the 150 percent of the Federal

         21  Poverty Level.  Not only will the passage of S.2644

         22  and A.5178 as proposed by Resolution Number 823

         23  improve the health and peace of mind of people

         24  living with disabilities, but their inclusion will

         25  also reduce emergency room usage, hospitalizations
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          2  and institutionalizations, thereby, saving health

          3  care dollars for the State government.

          4                 Thank you for your time.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you very

          6  much, and now we have Mr. Rosenthal from the 504

          7  Democratic Club.

          8                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  As you said, I am

          9  Norman Rosenthal from  --  I am on the Board of the

         10  504 Democratic Club.  I happen to be one of the

         11  people who would be affected by this, but I don't

         12  discuss my personal things in public.  I have

         13  testified before, before the State Assembly, on

         14  health- related issues, and I just don't discuss my

         15  personal issues, however, I can tell you that I've

         16  been advocating in Albany for this for about four-

         17  and a- half years, and Mike is correct. We have AD

         18  sponsors in the Assembly.  As of yesterday, the

         19  companion bill in the Senate, it might be more now

         20  because I was in Albany Monday and Tuesday, we

         21  picked up Senator Winter (phonetic), a Republican

         22  who's currently in the news.  So we now have 23

         23  Republicans on the companion bill, which is more

         24  than two- thirds of the Republicans.

         25                 We have a Senate Minority Bill
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          2  because Republicans asked for proof that the

          3  Minority would go along with this, and Senator Klein

          4  introduced the bill.  There are now 22 Democrats on

          5  the Senate Minority Bill.  So there are 45 members,

          6  out of 62, more than two- thirds.  One of the

          7  Democrats is also on the Republican bill, as a

          8  matter of fact, and a few of the people Edith

          9  mentioned are actually now on the Bill.  Do you want

         10  me to mention their names?

         11                 MS. PRENTISS:  No, no, no.

         12                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Okay, I just wanted

         13  to be sure whether or not you wanted to, but we are

         14  still missing a few Democrats but quite frankly, we

         15  have overwhelming support, the Minority conference

         16  has said we will not do anything to impede the

         17  Republicans if they are going to bring this.  So, I

         18  wanted to mention that.

         19                 Also, later on I'm going to

         20  straighten out some of the fiscal things we talked

         21  about.  I've looked into that a lot.              In

         22  the last few days, I've spoken to Mike Burgess

         23  (phonetic), head of the State Office of the Aging.

         24  Mike Burgess and Ronnie, of course, have been

         25  associated with them for years, is a former director
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          2  of the Statewide Senior Action Council, former

          3  director of NYSARA, New York State Alliance Retired

          4  Americans, both organizations have always supported

          5  the expansion of EPIC for the disabled, and I spoke

          6  to John Eddie (phonetic) the current director of

          7  Statewide Senior Action Council, which as other

          8  people here have said, are the people who brought us

          9  EPIC in the first place, and the seniors have

         10  constantly supported this, the groups I have been

         11  involved with, and I was in a senate Republicans

         12  office on Monday, and we were discussing this issue,

         13  and he said, "Give me something really powerful."

         14  So from his office, I called John Eddie who faxed

         15  over this statement which is the most powerful

         16  statement in support I've ever seen of this. So, I'm

         17  going to read this to you, and it's been distributed

         18  somewhat among the legislators.  It's on the

         19  letterhead of  -- I'll give this to you, it's on the

         20  letterhead of Statewide Senior Action Council, dated

         21  October 22nd, 2007, supporting S.2264 Seward, and

         22  A.5178, Coon.

         23                  "New York State Statewide Senior

         24  Action Council strongly supports those bills

         25  sponsored by Senator Seward and Assembly Member
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          2  Coon.  This bill would expand the New York State

          3  Elderly Pharmaceutical Insurance Coverage, EPIC

          4  program, to persons with disabilities who have

          5  Medicare coverage.  Statewide has very long

          6  recognized the needs of persons who are disabled,

          7  who are enrolled in Medicare, are very similar to

          8  those of seniors on Medicare.  Both groups have been

          9  employed and earned the right to Medicare coverage.

         10  Like most seniors with Medicare, persons with

         11  disabilities are no longer able to work in their

         12  previous fields.  In most cases, without help paying

         13  for their health care, many members of both groups

         14  would be unable to survive.  That is why the Federal

         15  Government has seen the necessity to provide drug

         16  coverage for both groups of persons through Medicare

         17  Part D.

         18                 As of July 1st, 2007, New York State

         19  has chosen to required its EPIC enrolled seniors to

         20  enroll also in Medicare Part D as a means of saving

         21  state funds.  Statewide has not contested this due

         22  to a recognition that saving funds where possible

         23  represents responsible management of resources.

         24                 However, Statewide strongly believes

         25  that the saving so generated should be used to
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          2  expand the EPIC program to meet the needs of New

          3  York's persons with disabilities.  The strength of

          4  this conviction was demonstrated at Statewide's

          5  recent annual convention.  Our members voted that

          6  the expansion of EPIC to person with disabilities is

          7  one of our top four legislative priorities.  Given

          8  the large number of high priority programs affecting

          9  seniors, this vote demonstrates just how important

         10  this issue is.  Statewide asks that the New York

         11  State Legislature pass this critical bill."

         12                 I don't know how it could get any

         13  more powerful than that, and these are the people

         14  who did it in the first place.

         15                 I cannot prove this, but one of the

         16  higher ups in Statewide who I was on the phone with,

         17  also told me that at this point, and it's probably

         18  up to them to say that, but I'm  -- since I'm here,

         19  at this point they would push this ahead of

         20  expanding it further to seniors.  There are very

         21  many bills in Albany to increase the income rate for

         22  seniors by many people. They also haven't gotten to

         23  the Floor.  They've been around for years.

         24                 So I want to say, getting back to the

         25  financial's, that EPIC has evolved into being  --
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          2  it's actually secondary now to Part D, and something

          3  that a lot of people don't know is, in the next few

          4  months  --  this was also touched on but

          5  incorrectly, unfortunately EPIC will have a

          6  formulary.  It will adopt the Medicaid formulary,

          7  and also the EPIC plan does not, depending on  --

          8  in simple terms, does not pay for those things

          9  excluded by Part D either.  Edith discussed some of

         10  those things. Coming to the financials, roughly four

         11  years ago, I did a Fiscal Note, but I'm not anyone

         12  with credentials because nobody else did it.  At the

         13  same time, I asked Hevesi's people to do a Fiscal

         14  Note.  Their Fiscal Note came out the same time as

         15  mine.  There wasn't much difference.  Mine was a

         16  little bit lower, and I came up with scenarios

         17  starting  --  Mike has mentioned, nine states have

         18  this.  The closest states are New Jersey and

         19  Connecticut.  New Jersey  --  both had parity's in

         20  the beginning but please correct me if I'm wrong, I

         21  don't want to be lying about that, that's my

         22  understanding.  What I started with, is I took New

         23  Jersey, I did proportional, I made proportions to

         24  New York that is closer demographics to New York

         25  than any place else, and I figured out how much it
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          2  would cost.  Then I said, "Well, if you don't

          3  believe this number, then you add this cost." So I

          4  came up with these costs ranging from about $65

          5  million with full market penetration to about $250

          6  million, and I averaged it out and it came out to

          7  $110 million.  Now, based on the growth under EPIC,

          8  I proportionalized it recently, and I came out with

          9  a figure of $140 million if it were to be

         10  implemented immediately.           At the same time,

         11  the Senate Republicans requested of the Department

         12  of Health just recently, a Fiscal Note.  This is the

         13  Fiscal Note that Mike is talking about that

         14  concludes that it's going to be $180 million.  But

         15  that's actually a couple or three years out.  What

         16  they say is, if the program were to be enacted this

         17  fiscal year, if it was to be enacted January 1st of

         18  2008, that would be the final quarter of the current

         19  fiscal year. They project it would cost $11 million

         20  for that period.  For the following fiscal year,

         21  $113 million and with almost full penetration, $180

         22  million.

         23                 I also want to add  --  everyone's

         24  mentioned about the savings all along, all the

         25  advocates have said we should use the savings that
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          2  we realize due to Part D for this.  Someone in here

          3  mentioned $143 million.  I believe the actual

          4  savings, and I've been conservative on this, is $250

          5  million because part of the savings  --  there was

          6  an overlap in fiscal years, and when the savings

          7  were  --  when the people teased out the figures, if

          8  you add them all together, I believe it's a quarter

          9  of a billion dollars, which is even less than the

         10  $180 million.

         11                 I don't even believe it's going to be

         12  what I came up with $140 million because we know

         13  from the DRIE program that penetration is very poor.

         14  This disabled are very poor leader organized, they

         15  are not aware enough.  They are not in contact with

         16  a very low level of DRIE, and we want parity.  We

         17  don't want this low level that we have.  I believe

         18  there are only 4,000 people enrolled, which I think

         19  is outrageous.  Hevesi's figure of, and the people

         20  they anticipated would be enrolled, this was

         21  2003/2004, was about 71,000 New Yorkers.  Someone's

         22  mentioning 80,000, I don't know that.  I'm not going

         23  to quarrel over it because I'd rather have it out in

         24  the daylight, everyone debating it, and I'm not

         25  going to argue.  I've asked everyone in the
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          2  community to accept the higher numbers because,

          3  quite frankly, the conservatives have said, "Okay,

          4  these numbers look realistic to us, we'll attack the

          5  problem."

          6                 So, I also want to add that it seems

          7  at this point that the Legislature  --  I've only

          8  found two legislators against this since I've done

          9  this.  One in each House, and the last thing I have

         10  been told is, "Look, we're not going to stop in the

         11  way of this if the Governor puts it in the budget."

         12                 So, we have to really not just push

         13  for these bills to come to the Floor, but we have to

         14  ask that the Governor puts it in his budget, and for

         15  people who don't know, the people who control this

         16  are actually on the second floor of the Capitol, not

         17  in the agency buildings, and so the `go to' person

         18  on this would be Mr. Whalen, who is one of the

         19  secretaries, the Governor's secretaries, whose

         20  responsibility this is.

         21                 The final thing that comes to mind

         22  immediately is that I presented this to the

         23  Governor's budget people about a month ago, and they

         24  were very thankful that someone brought this right

         25  to the second floor, rather than waiting for it to
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          2   --  I think I covered everything basically.

          3                 MS. PRENTISS:  Philosophically, I

          4  have a problem with the concept that we're only

          5  worth savings.  Excuse me.

          6                 For seniors for how many years have

          7  they had programs that they're actually spending

          8  money on?  The same issue about SCRIE.  They're

          9  actually spending money.  Why is the disability

         10  community only worthy of the pennies left over in

         11  savings?  That is incredibly offensive.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  I wouldn't take

         13  it that way. I think the argument is different.

         14                 MS. PRENTISS:  Oh, it's very clear.

         15  It is to be taken that way council member, and this

         16  has been discussed for many years, and it has always

         17  been we are only worth the savings.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, I beg to

         19  differ, at least in this instance.  I think the

         20  argument is this, and I've been in government for a

         21  long time.  So, I think I have some knowledge of how

         22  people think.

         23                 You always look at the current year

         24  as the baseline.  What are we spending this year?

         25  Then you say to yourself, "Well, what we are
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          2  spending this year, what can we afford to add to

          3  that given, perhaps, increases in revenue?"

          4                 MS. PRENTISS:  Excuse me.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  No, no, you'll

          6  have to let me finish, okay?

          7                 MS. PRENTISS:  Okay fine, no problem.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  So when you're

          9  looking at this year's budget, and you see what the

         10  State is spending, and you tend to segment it in

         11  different areas.  So you say, "We're spending X-

         12  dollars on EPIC this year."  And then you look at

         13  next year, how much can we expand it?  Well, if in

         14  fact the EPIC program is going to cost less because

         15  the Federal government  -- cost the State less,

         16  because the Federal government is picking up some of

         17  it with Medicare Part D, then you say, "Well, we

         18  don't need to put more money in the EPIC program.

         19  We can keep it at this year's level because we have

         20  these savings."  That's not saying that the disabled

         21  community is not worth it.  If you did not have the

         22  savings, you could argue for the expansion of the

         23  program, but expanding programs is always more

         24  difficult than maintaining them at the level that

         25  they were at.
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          2                 That's why I'm trying to disabuse you

          3  of the idea that you're, sort of, being treated as a

          4  second- class citizen here.

          5                 MS. PRENTISS:  I'm sorry but they

          6  manage to expand the program over the years.  I've

          7  been in Aging as a caseworker since 1980.  I have

          8  seen many programs expanded.  We have seen EPIC

          9  grow.  We have seen SCRIE grow, but every time the

         10  disability programs were on the table, it's not our

         11  year, or there's not enough money.  There is not a

         12  goodwill in Albany to move on issues of disability,

         13  and I think that until we face that and accept it,

         14  and fight it at the root, we will continue to be

         15  second- class disabled citizens.

         16                 I can only say, having been through

         17  this too

         18  many  --  actually, what I did to wrote my testimony

         19  was to go back to previous testimonies, and every

         20  single year I can pull up my former testimony.

         21  Every year we have the same exact discussion, and

         22  every year we see the senior program inching up.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, I'm not

         24  going to debate it.

         25                 One thing I did want to ask you
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          2  though was how

          3  much  --  you're enrolled in Medicare Part D, are

          4  you?

          5                 MS. PRENTISS:  I am in the Medicare

          6  Advantage Plan because in 2000 when I became

          7  eligible for Medicare, it was the only way in which

          8  I could afford to have any drug coverage.  At that

          9  point, the Medigaps really were crappy coverage, and

         10  as a former contract worker for the City, I have no

         11  remaining coverage.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  What I wanted

         13  to ask you is, you mentioned all these different

         14  medications, it's certainly is very regretful that

         15  you have to take all these.  But I'm wondering what

         16  is  --  have you estimated your monthly cost that

         17  you have to pay outside of the coverage you have?

         18                 MS. PRENTISS:  Well at this point,

         19  I've simply stopped taking about 50 percent of my

         20  medication.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  But I mean, can

         22  you give us an estimate as a heavy user?

         23                 MS. PRENTISS:  I mean as a heavy

         24  user, before I fell in the "donut hole," my monthly

         25  co-pays were approximately $600.00 a month.  My
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          2  co-pay.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Then the "donut

          4  hole" adds to it?

          5                 MS. PRENTISS:  In the "donut hole"

          6  it's all mine, and it would be $5,000 a month, which

          7  is why I'm not taking my medications.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Humm, that

          9  certainly is a striking number for someone who's

         10  obviously on limited income.

         11                 MS. PRENTISS:  Yes, I mean, and whose

         12  rent almost equals their social security.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  I hear what

         14  you're saying. It's very dramatic.  That's why I

         15  asked the question.

         16                      Anybody else?  No, no, not from

         17  the audience.

         18                 We're going to call additional

         19  witnesses.  Right now I'm asking my colleagues if

         20  they have a comment or a question.

         21                 Yes, council member.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I was just

         23  curious because in your testimony you mentioned the

         24  number of Senators that haven't signed on.  Are

         25  there any Assembly members that haven't signed on?
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          2                 MS. PRENTISS:  Yes, there are

          3  considerable numbers.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Do you know

          5  who they are?

          6                 MS. PRENTISS:  Yes we do.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Can I know

          8  who they are?

          9                 MS. PRENTISS:  I will be glad to e-

         10  mail that to your office.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, I'm very

         12  curious.

         13                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Yes, as far as

         14  Assembly members there are 80 of them on.  It may

         15  not be unique to EPIC.  We have at least 20, perhaps

         16  30 Assembly members who want to be on the bill.

         17  They simply stopped adding to people to the bill at

         18  the very end of July, and this has been

         19  investigated.  That's all I can say about it.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Then I'm even

         21  more curious.  I don't understand.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Are they

         23  allowing Republicans on the bill?

         24                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  They stopped.  They

         25  had a few  -- it's very difficult for Republicans to
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          2  get on the bill.  About two years ago, three

          3  Republicans made a fuss.  They let those three on.

          4  They remain on the bill.  504 and myself, and I'm

          5  with 504, had a huge push in June and July.  They

          6  got a real lot of people on the bill, and a lot of

          7  the sponsor slips were lost. When they went back to

          8  people, they were not on the bill.  "Oh, we already

          9  put the slip in," and on that day, out of  --  I

         10  don't want to say.  Only five people actually got on

         11  the bill.  One person saw that their name was not on

         12  the bill and made a huge fuss.  They got on the

         13  bill, but there's just so much fuss people are

         14  willing to make because there are 10,000 bills, they

         15  have to deal with leadership, I think you can read

         16  between the lines. And so, there are about 20 to 30

         17  people who would otherwise be on the bill, who are

         18  not on the bill.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  Yes, all

         20  right, I was going to ask you since you served there

         21  for many years, I'm missing  --  I don't get what's

         22  going on.  I mean, is there a maximum number of

         23  people that can sponsor a bill?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  There is a

         25  tenancy and it's gotten somewhat more extreme, some
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          2  people might say worse, since I left, of being quite

          3  partisan about sponsorship.  They sometimes don't

          4   --  they try and prevent Republicans from going on

          5  Democratic bills because, especially Republicans who

          6  are in what they call "marginal districts."  They

          7  don't want the Republicans to take credit for

          8  legislation.  Don't want the Republicans to be able

          9  in the Assembly, obviously the same thing in the

         10  Senate though, the other way around.  You'll find

         11  it, and that's why I think you testified that

         12  there's a separate Minority Bill, and that's because

         13  the Republicans won't let Democrats on the bill

         14  that's sponsor by the Majority Republicans.

         15                 The partisanship in Albany is extreme

         16  and as I say, it's gotten more extreme since I was

         17  there, since just  -- I like to tell stories.  I'll

         18  tell a little story.  There was an Assembly member

         19  from Westchester by the name of Peter Sullivan. He

         20  was somewhat of a friend of mine.  He was a

         21  Republican.  He passed a bill, must have been back

         22  in the late 70's, perhaps, that provided that all

         23  contracts have to be in plain language, and he was

         24  the main sponsor of that bill.  It's estimated that

         25  he got re- elected five times because he had that
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          2  credit.  After Peter Sullivan had that credit, they

          3  tried to keep all the Republicans off the bills

          4  because they didn't want the Republicans to get re-

          5  elected.  He was finally defeated by a Democrat, but

          6  that's the fact of the matter, and I say it publicly

          7  because it's true.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER FELDER:  I just wanted

          9  to say that we're delighted that you're not in the

         10  Assembly anymore.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Thank you.

         12                 Okay, did you want to say something

         13  else?

         14                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  I don't know if you

         15  were trying to be diplomatic.  I'll be a little less

         16  diplomatic, but I'll try not to be the opposite.

         17  I'll not try to be an Ambassador Norway today.

         18                 It's true the Republicans were left

         19  off, but the last over a dozen Democrats were just

         20  not admitted either.  In the dark chasm these slips

         21  have gone into the chasm in Albany somewhere, and

         22  you can absolutely not prove exactly where they are,

         23  but we know that's the case.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, I don't

         25  understand why Democrats were left off.  I do
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          2  understand why Republicans were. But I'm not there

          3  so I can't explain it.

          4                 Thank you all very much, but I think

          5  with 80 sponsors you're going pretty well in any

          6  event.  Eighty is more than half in the Assembly.

          7                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Three of which are

          8  Republicans, so that really counts as 77 according

          9  to Shelly.  We had to replace 12 this year because

         10  people moved on to other office, a couple died and

         11  so forth.  So, this was on top of replacing people.

         12  So, it's a constant struggle actually to keep the

         13  bill, a majority number of members.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Well, you don't

         15  really need a majority of sponsors.  You just need a

         16  majority of votes.

         17                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  I understand that,

         18  but since we haven't gotten to the Floor, we want to

         19  demonstrate to leadership that this is very, very

         20  important, and that's why--

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  No, it's a good

         22  effort.  I agree with you.  It's a good effort.

         23  Thank you.

         24                 MR. ROSENTHAL:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  We have one
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          2  further person signed up, and that is Phil Walls.

          3  Phil Walls you're up.

          4                 MR. WALLS:  I'm Phil Walls, and I'm

          5  from 504, also Northstar.

          6                 I have stories also about my doctors.

          7    My doctor is a good doctor.  He always says take

          8  the best pill.  I'm talking about expensive pills.

          9  So, that's what we do.  All right.  I am on D, and a

         10  whole lot of people are the same.  I don't have a

         11  job but we have problems in  --  well, I'm trying to

         12  say I am for increasing the EPIC program, and we

         13  need votes for doing that.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  We appreciate

         15  your coming and adding your voice, and I think it's

         16  clear this is a high priority.  The disabled

         17  community is to be congratulated for really

         18  mobilizing on this.  So, I congratulate you.  Thank

         19  you very much.

         20                 MR. WALLS:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON KOPPELL:  Is there

         22  anybody else who wishes to speak this morning?

         23                 In that case, the hearing is closed.

         24                 (Hearing concluded at 11:42 a.m.)
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